THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

JUN 19 2014

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case Nos. 2012-GS-42-2624, 2012-GS-42-2625, 2012-GS-42-2626,
2012-GS-42-2627, 2012-GS-42-2633, and 2012-GS-42-2634

Appellate Case No. 2012-213228

The State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Ronasha Taylor, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew R. de Holl
Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP
Post Office Box 999
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
843-720-4634

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
Post Office Box 11433
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
803-734-1343

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING TWO FORENSIC INTERVIEWERS TO GIVE TESTIMONY THAT IMPERMISSIBLY VOUCHED FOR THE CREDIBILITY OF THE SIX COMPLAINING WITNESSES?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING THE TWO FORENSIC INTERVIEWERS TO GIVE IMPERMISSIBLE VOUCHING TESTIMONY AS EXPERT WITNESSES?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING DVD RECORDINGS OF FOUR COMPLAINING WITNESSES' OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS THAT DID NOT HAVE PARTICULARIZED GUARANTEES OF TRUSTWORTHINESS AS REQUIRED BY STATUTE?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING A COMPLAINING WITNESS TO TESTIFY BY CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION WITHOUT MAKING THE REQUIRED FINDINGS FOR THE PROCEDURE AND WITHOUT EVIDENCE SHOWING THE PROCEDURE WAS A NECESSARY INTRUSION ON TAYLOR'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 3, 2012, Ronasha Taylor was indicted for six counts of committing a lewd act on a minor and five counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor. (R. pp. 1128-29, 1131-32, 1134-35, 1137-38, 1140-41, 1143-44, 1146). Each lewd act charge and each criminal sexual conduct charge related to one of six children who attended Kids R Kids day care, where Taylor worked. (See R. pp. 888:1-13, 996:14-16, 1006:4-1007:2, 1128-29, 1131-32, 1134-35, 1137-38, 1140-41, 1143-44). Assistant Attorney General Bethany Miles and Assistant Deputy Attorney General Kelly Hall prosecuted the case. (R. p. 1). Stephen Henry defended Taylor. (R. p. 1).

A jury trial took place from September 10 to 19, 2012. (R. p. 1146). The State produced no physical evidence of any of the charges.¹ Rather, the State's case consisted largely of the children's testimony, testimony from other witnesses that was based on what the children had previously told them, and video recordings of forensic interviews in which the children claimed Taylor abused them.

The Children's Testimony and the Use of Closed Circuit Television

Each of the six children testified at trial that in a bathroom at Kids R Kids, Taylor touched the child, Taylor made the child touch her, or both. (R. pp. 261:16-268:8; 390:3-398:17; 582:5-584:16; 662:18-668:10; 677:22-678:10; 767:2-769:20; 821:2-827:15). Child 1, Child 2, and Child 5 testified in the courtroom. (R. pp. 257:18-275:5; 386:8-403:12; 753:23-772:21). Over Taylor's objection, the trial court granted motions by the State for Child 3, Child 4, and Child 6 to testify out of Taylor's presence and outside of the courtroom,

¹ A doctor who physically examined Child 3 and Child 6 testified she found no signs of sexual abuse. (R. pp. 469:23-472:3).

through a closed circuit television (CCTV) system. (R. pp. 559:18-592:3; 658:14-678:13; 814:21-838:12).

The Forensic Interviewers

The State's two most prominent witnesses were Lynn McMillan and Tabitha Weber, two forensic interviewers who interviewed the children in the course of the investigation of Taylor. McMillan interviewed Child 1, Child 2, and Child 3. (R. pp. 306:8-11; 403:21-25; 593:19-22). Weber interviewed Child 4, Child 5, and Child 6. (R. pp. 693:14-16; 774:2-4; 839:1-3). According to McMillan and Weber, their goal as forensic interviewers is to "get at the truth" and to "figure out the truth." (R. pp. 294:2-5; 686:5-9).

Over Taylor's objections, the trial court allowed McMillan and Weber to testify as experts. (R. pp. 292:16-22; 685:15-17). The trial court did so without placing findings on the record as to whether the jury needed expert testimony, whether the testimony McMillan or Weber would provide was reliable, or whether Weber had the qualifications of an expert. (*See id.*).

The Forensic Interview DVDs

McMillan and Weber made video recordings of their interviews. (R. p. 305:18-22). At trial, the State sought to admit DVDs of the interviews. (R. pp. 308:23-309:4). Taylor objected to admission of the interviews of Child 1, Child 2, Child 3, and Child 6, arguing that they did not contain particularized guarantees of trustworthiness and therefore were not admissible under section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code. (R. pp. 311:24-312:21; 409:11-16; 597:21-598:4; 620:22-622:3; 851:14-16). The trial court overruled the objections, admitted the DVDs into evidence, and allowed the state to play the DVDs to the jury. (R. pp. 315:6-320:8; 409:17-411:20; 611:4-616:1; 854:4-856:10).

Each DVD contained one or more interviews of a child. In some, but not all, of those interviews, the child in question told the interviewer about touching Taylor or Taylor touching the child in a bathroom at Kids R Kids. (*See* State's Exs. 1, 2, 6, 9, 10, 19, and 22).

The Course of the Trial

The State's presentation of the above evidence followed a pattern. First, a child testified. (R. pp. 257:18-275:5; 386:8-402:12; 559:18-592:3; 658:14-678:13; 753:23-772:21; 814:21-838:12). Then, McMillan or Weber testified about the interviews she conducted on the child, telling the jury she took steps to ensure what the child said in the interviews was reliable and was not influenced by third parties. (R. pp. 306:8-308:3; 403:21-407:15; 593:19-595:15; 693:14-697:4; 775:2-777:13; 924:1-925:25). Next, the State played the DVD of the interviews that McMillan or Weber performed on the child. (R. pp. 402:18-403:2; 497:20-498:7; 681:21-682:13; 783:3-784:1; 863:8-864:1; 840:21-842:25). Finally, after the DVD ended, McMillan or Weber told the jury what she recommended for the child based on his or her disclosure in the interview. McMillan recommended the three children she interviewed get therapy from a clinician with experience in child sexual abuse. (R. pp. 325:6-326:5; 418:20-419:5; 599:9-11). Weber recommended her three interviewees get therapy have no contact with Taylor. (R. pp. 700:18-21; 791:20-23; 845:3-6).

At the end of the State's case, the State withdrew two of the criminal sexual conduct charges due to lack of evidence. (R. pp. 905:24-906:11). For the same reason, the trial court directed a verdict on a third criminal sexual conduct charge. (R. pp. 914:10-917:3).

Taylor then presented her case, in which she and other witnesses testified. (*See* R. pp. 718-19). Taylor denied doing any of the things the children alleged and denied that she touched any of the children inappropriately. (R. pp. 1022:5-1023:1).

The jury acquitted Taylor of the two criminal sexual conduct charges but found her guilty of the six lewd act charges. (R. pp. 1109:25-1111:9). The trial court sentenced Taylor to fifty years in prison—fifteen years each on two of the charges and five years each on the other four, all to be served consecutively. (R. pp. 1126:12-1127:20). Taylor made a motion for new trial asserting numerous errors in the proceedings. (*See generally* R. pp. 1146-54). The trial court denied the motion on October 3, 2012. (*See* R. p. 1164). Taylor served her notice of appeal of her conviction and sentence on October 16, 2012. (Notice of Appeal 1-2).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ronasha Taylor was an experienced day care worker employed by Kids R Kids day care center in Greer. (R. pp. 993:11-18). Taylor performed a number of jobs at Kids R Kids, including teaching kindergarten. (R. pp. 995:17-996:11). She was well-liked by the children attending Kids R Kids. (R. p. 982:3-15).

In the fall of 2010, Taylor taught a four-year-old kindergarten class that included Child 1 and Child 6. (R. pp. 996:14-16; 1006:10-12). Laurie Frady, another a four-year-old kindergarten teacher, taught Child 2, Child 3, Child 4, and Child 5. (R. pp. 888:1-13; 1006:4-1007:2). Every day, Taylor took her students to Frady's classroom for nap time, where Taylor and Frady took turns watching the children while the other was on break. (R. pp. 889:6-975:4; 1007:20-1008:5).

The classrooms had bathrooms in them. (R. p. 806:5-13; *see* R. p. 890:16-18). On several occasions, Taylor assisted some of the children in the bathroom. Child 1 had a tendency to play around in the bathroom, and on one occasion she threw toilet paper on the floor. (R. p. 1011:10-19). On that occasion, Taylor wiped Child 1 to clean her up from going to the bathroom. (R. p. 1037:19-25). Taylor also had to wipe Child 2 because Child 2 had trouble wiping herself after using the bathroom. (R. p. 1040:7-9). Taylor also helped Child 3 in the bathroom and once helped Child 4 with his zipper. (R. pp. 1039:11-15; 1040:23-25).

Taylor had some difficulties with Child 6. (R. p. 1010:12-13). Once, when she tried to stop him from kicking other children, he slapped her face and she sent him to the office. (R. p. 1010:14-24). Other times, Child 6 turned off the bathroom lights while Child 5 was using the bathroom, and Taylor would have to go turn the light back on. (R. pp. 1011:20-

1012:9).

Kids R Kids had a webcam system called Watch Me Grow, which allowed parents to monitor their children online using video cameras mounted in the classrooms. (R. pp. 130:14-18; 171:22-172:5). The cameras in Taylor's and Frady's classrooms allowed viewers to see the doors to the bathrooms, but not inside the bathrooms. (R. pp. 375:2-376:3; 806:5-15). Several parents of the six children testified they used Watch Me Grow. (R. pp. 172:3-20; 252:12-253:24; 748:10-13; 805:13-806:4). None of them testified they saw Taylor abuse any children.

Beginning in October 2010, four of the six children began making allegations against Taylor. (R. pp. 212:14-213:1). Police and the local DSS office investigated the claims. (R. pp. 214:12-215:11). In interviews with police and DSS, Taylor denied molesting or abusing the children in any way. (R. pp. 1001:7-18; 1041:3-9).

As part of the investigation, McMillan or Weber questioned each child several times. Child 1 told McMillan she licked Taylor's "tummy." (State's Ex. 1, 19:46-20:47). Child 2 said she touched Taylor's "hips." (State's Ex. 6, Interview 3, 13:45-14:54). Child 3 told McMillan she and Child 2 pinched Taylor's "boobies." (State's Ex. 9, Interview 2, 7:04-9:30). Child 4 told Weber he touched and licked Taylor's chest. (See State's Ex. 9, 5:30-7:14).

Based on the four children's claims, police issued arrest warrants for Taylor. (R. pp. 219:22-220:20). She turned herself in. (R. p. 1002:18-24).

After Taylor was arrested, Weber interviewed Child 5 and Child 6. Child 5 told Weber that he pinched Taylor's "boobs" and that Taylor touched parts of his body that people aren't supposed to touch. (State's Ex. 19, Interview 1, 25:00-26:00, 29:30-29:58;

Interview 2, 4:35-4:43). Child 6 told Weber that Taylor showed him her "boobies" and touched him. (State's Ex. 22, Interview 1, 30:55-34:36).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The abuse-of-discretion standard governs this Court's review. *See State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 494-95 (2013) (admission of vouching testimony from forensic interviewer); *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) (admission of expert testimony); *State v. Whitner*, 399 S.C. 547, 558, 732 S.E.2d 861, 867 (2012) (admission of video recording of forensic interview); *State v. Bray*, 342 S.C. 23, 27, 535 S.E.2d 636, 639 (2000) (decision to have witness testify outside defendant's presence by closed circuit television). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING TWO FORENSIC INTERVIEWERS TO GIVE TESTIMONY THAT IMPERMISSIBLY VOUCHERED FOR THE CREDIBILITY OF THE SIX COMPLAINING WITNESSES

The trial court allowed McMillan and Weber to testify that based on the children's disclosures of abuse, they recommended the children get sexual abuse therapy. (R. pp. 325:6-326:5; 418:20-419:5; 599:9-11; 700:18-21; 781:20-23; 845:3-6). In addition, Weber testified she recommended Child 4, Child 5, and Child 6 not have any contact with Taylor. (R. pp. 700:18-21; 781:20-23; 845:3-6). Admitting this testimony was error.

“The rules of evidence do not allow witnesses to vouch for or offer opinions on the credibility of others, and the work of a forensic interviewer, by its very nature, seeks to ascertain whether abuse occurred at all, i.e., whether the victim is telling the truth, and to identify the source of the abuse.” *Kromah*, 401 S.C. at 357 n.5, 737 S.E.2d at 499 n.5; *see also* 401 S.C. at 358, 737 S.E.2d at 499-500 (“Our courts have previously held that ‘[t]he assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury,’ and that witnesses generally are ‘not allowed to testify whether another witness is telling the truth.’” (quoting *State v. McKerley*, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012))). For these reasons, the Supreme Court and this Court have recently held several times that it is improper for a forensic interviewer to give testimony vouching for the credibility of a complaining witness in a child abuse case. *See Kromah*, 401 S.C. at 359, 737 S.E.2d at 500 (holding trial court erred in allowing forensic interviewer to testify about her finding of child abuse, as it “was the equivalent of [the interviewer] stating the Child was telling the truth”); *Jennings*, 394 S.C. at 480, 716 S.E.2d at 94 (stating that “[f]or an expert to comment on the

veracity of a child's accusations of sexual abuse is improper" and finding trial court erred in admitting forensic interviewer's reports that vouched for children's credibility); *Smith v. State*, 386 S.C. 562, 569, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010) (finding a "forensic interviewer's . . . opinion testimony improperly bolstered the Victim's credibility"); *McKerley*, 397 S.C. at 464, 725 S.E.2d at 141 (stating "witnesses may not improperly bolster the testimony of other witnesses" and holding trial court erred in admitting bolstering testimony of forensic interviewer); *State v. Hill*, 394 S.C. 280, 294, 715 S.E.2d 368, 376 (Ct. App. 2011) (stating, in discussion of forensic interviewer's testimony, "[t]he law is clear that it is improper for a witness to give testimony as to his or her opinion about the credibility of a child victim in a sexual abuse matter.").

Jennings and *McKerley* made clear that improper bolstering testimony encompasses more than direct statements by the forensic interviewer that she believed the child or that the child was truthful. In *Jennings*, the Supreme Court held a trial court abused its discretion in admitting into evidence portions of a forensic interviewer's written reports of interviews she conducted with three alleged child victims. 394 S.C. at 480, 716 S.E.2d at 94. "In each report, the forensic interviewer stated that during the interviews, each child had 'provide[d] a compelling disclosure of abuse by [appellant].'" *Id.* (alterations in *Jennings*). The interviewer further noted in her reports that each child provided details consistent with background information the interviewer had received from their mother, a police report, and the other children. *Id.* The Supreme Court held the reports "allowed the forensic interviewer to improperly vouch for the children's veracity" as "there is no other way to interpret the language used in the reports other than to mean the forensic interviewer believed the children were being truthful." *Id.* Therefore, the Supreme Court held the trial court abused its

discretion in admitting the reports, and it reversed Jennings' convictions for lewd act on a minor. 394 S.C. at 480, 482, 716 S.E.2d at 94-95.

Similarly, in *McKerley*, the forensic interviewer "never testified directly that she believed what the victim stated in her interviews or in her testimony." 397 S.C. at 465, 725 S.E.2d at 142. Rather, she testified that she found the child's interviews were "compelling for sexual abuse," 397 S.C. at 463, 725 S.E.2d at 141. This Court held that the testimony was no different in meaning or effect than the reports in *Jennings* and therefore the trial court abused its discretion in admitting it. 397 S.C. at 463-64, 725 S.E.2d at 141. Addressing a harmless error argument made by the State, the Court identified numerous other improper vouching statements the interviewer made in her testimony, including the following:

- "We want to be able to, . . . after assessing [the child's] behavior and what they are stating in an interview, look at that along with the other information that we may have had at the beginning of the interview and *give an opinion as to whether we think something happened*"
- "we are looking for accuracy of information" given by the victim;
- "we are going to . . . make sure that what the child is telling us is based on something they would have experienced on their own body or that they would have seen or heard, the sensory information";
- "those statements have a level of detail that . . . they would be able to tell [only] if something were to have happened";
- "we are also looking at . . . are there other possible reasons, are there other possible explanations";
- "we are looking to see if [] [this] could . . . be explained in another way";
- "we are looking to be sure it adds up";
- "we are looking to see if what they tell us throughout the interview is the same from the beginning to the end";

- “we are also looking at their behavior and the way they are expressing themselves in the interview . . . their behavior and their language”;
- in forming her “opinion as to whether . . . something happened,” she considered whether the victim’s statements were “consistent with the other information” she has on the case; and
- in forming her “opinion as to whether . . . something happened,” she considered “does this child appear to be giving statements that are similar to, in my experience, in my training and what I have learned; similar to what other children with the same experience may have had.”

397 S.C. at 466-67, 725 S.E.2d at 142. This Court held that “none of this testimony has any relevance except insofar as it informs the jury [the interviewer] believes the story told by the victim,” 397 S.C. at 467, 725 S.E.2d at 143, and that the testimony was “patently inadmissible evidence,” *id.* (quoting *Jennings*, 394 S.C. at 483, 716 S.E.2d at 96 (Kittredge, J., concurring)).

Finally, in *Kromah*, the Supreme Court heavily criticized the practice of forensic interviewers testifying in child abuse cases. The Court stated that “the primary purpose for calling a ‘forensic interviewer’² as a witness is to lend credibility to the victim’s allegations.” 401 S.C. at 358, 737 S.E.2d at 499. Forensic interviewer testimony is therefore inadmissible, with very narrow exceptions, because “[t]he rules of evidence do not allow

²The Court put quotation marks around “forensic interviewer” because the title

is a misnomer. The use of the word forensic indicates that the interviewer deduces evidence suitable for use in court. It also implies that the evidence is deduced as the result of the application of some scientific methodology. The exact scientific methodology applied apparently defies identification. The RATAc style of interviewing [which McMillan, Weber, and many other forensic interviewers use (*see* R. pp. 284:4-285:2; 679:4-16)] is not scientific. It merely represents the objectives and topics of discussion between the interviewer and the child. Somehow RATAc is supposed to convert the interviewer into a human truth-detector whose opinions of the truth are valuable and suitable for the jury’s consumption.

401 S.C. at 356 n.4, 737 S.E.2d at 498 n.4.

witnesses to vouch for or offer opinions on the credibility of others, and the work of a forensic interviewer, by its very nature, seeks to ascertain whether abuse occurred at all, i.e., whether the victim is telling the truth, and to identify the source of the abuse.” 401 S.C. at 357 n.5, 737 S.E.2d at 499 n.5. The Court went on to write, “Forensic interviewers might be useful as a tool to aid law enforcement officers in their initial investigative process, but this does not make their work appropriate for use in the courtroom.” *Id.* This is because the RATA method forensic interviewers use,

which is not without its critics, involves evaluating whether the victim understands the importance of telling the truth and whether the victim has told the truth, as well as the forensic interviewer’s judgment in determining what actually transpired. . . . [A]n interviewer’s expectations or bias, the suggestiveness of the interviewer’s questions, and the interviewer’s examination of possible alternative explanations for any concerns, are all factors that can influence the interviewer’s conclusions in this regard. Such subjects, while undoubtedly important in the investigative process, are not appropriate in a court of law when they run afoul of evidentiary rules and a defendant’s constitutional rights.

Id.

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