ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

Lower Court Case Nos. 2012-GS-42-2624; -2625; -2626; -2627; -2633; -2634

Appellate Case No. 2012-213228

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RONASHA TAYLOR,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

KELLY W. HALL
BETHANY B. MILES
Assistant Attorneys General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 26 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

At the conclusion of the trial, which lasted approximately eight days, the jurors began deliberations and subsequently requested that the testimony of Victims 2, 3, 4, and 6 be re-played for them.⁴ (R. p. 1103, lines 2-4). The jury thereafter found Appellant guilty on the six lewd act charges but found her not guilty on the two CSC charges. (R. p. 1108-11). After hearing from the victims' parents as well as from Appellant's pastor, Judge Alford noted that the lewd act charges were parolable offenses and then sentenced Appellant to fifteen years on two of the lewd act charges and five years each on the other four lewd act charges. (R. p. 1122-27). All of the sentences were to run consecutively. (R. p. 1126-27).

I. Appellant's issue regarding the forensic interviewers' recommendations is not preserved for appellate review; however, even assuming the issue was properly preserved, the challenged testimony was not improper and did not vouch for the credibility of the victims. In any event, even if the forensic interviewers' testimony was improper, its admission was entirely harmless under the circumstances of this case and considering the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

In her first issue, Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in allowing McMillan and Weber, both forensic interviewers, to testify that, as a result of the victims' disclosures of abuse, they recommended therapy. Appellant also contends that the trial judge erred by permitting Weber to testify that she recommended that Victims 4, 5, and 6 have no contact with Appellant. First, Appellant failed to preserve these issues for

³ Note that Victim 6 was the only child that was of the same race as Appellant. (See State's Exhibit 22; see R. p. 1130; see also R. p. 1096-97).

⁴ The jury reached a verdict before re-hearing Victim 6's testimony. (R. p. 1108, lines 14-16).

appellate review because he failed to properly object at trial. Second, even assuming the issue was preserved, the recommendation testimony was not improper where the forensic interviewers never testified regarding making a compelling finding of sexual abuse and this testimony did not vouch for the credibility of the victims. Third, even if the testimony regarding the recommendations of therapy was improper, its admission was entirely harmless where this testimony was merely cumulative to other un-objected-to testimony in the record. Moreover, considering the overwhelming evidence of guilt, any error on this ground was harmless. Accordingly, Appellant is not entitled to a new trial.

Issue Preservation

Lynn McMillan, a licensed social worker and forensic interviewer, testified that she recommended therapy for Victims 1, 2, and 3 following their disclosures of abuse during their forensic interviews. (R. p. 325; p. 418-19; p. 599). Appellant objected only to McMillan's testimony regarding Victims 1 and 2. (R. p. 325, lines 8-22; p. 418, line 22 – p. 419, line 3). However, Appellant's objections both times failed to state any specific ground on the record, and while it appears Appellant's counsel may have explained his objection regarding McMillan's recommendation pertaining to Victim 1 during an off-the-record bench conference, his reasoning was never placed on the record. (See R. p. 325, lines 6-22). Tabitha Weber, also a social worker and forensic interviewer, testified that she recommended therapy for Victim 4, 5, and 6 following their disclosures of abuse and recommended that they have no contact with Appellant. (R. p. 700; p. 781; p. 845). Appellant failed to object to any of this testimony. (See R. p. 700, lines 18-23; p. 781, lines 20-24; p. 845, lines 3-7).

Because Appellant failed to object to the challenged testimony regarding the recommendations made for Victims 3, 4, 5, and 6, and failed to place upon the record any grounds for his objection to the testimony regarding the recommendations for Victims 1 and 2, the issue raised on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (a party must make a contemporaneous and specific objection to preserve an issue for appellate review); State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 482 S.E.2d 760 (1997) (a general objection which fails to specify the particular ground on which the objection is based is insufficient to preserve an issue for review); Busillo v. City of North Charleston, 404 S.C. 604, 608, 745 S.E.2d 142, 145 (Ct. App. 2013) (“The mere statement “objection” during a witness's testimony does not preserve any argument for appeal because such a general statement does not bring the specific grounds for the objection to the attention of the trial court.” (citations omitted)); State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 543 S.E.2d 586 (Ct. App. 2001) (“An objection made during an off-the-record conference which is not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review.” (citing York v. Conway Ford, Inc., 325 S.C. 170, 480 S.E.2d 726 (1997))), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Moreover, to the extent Appellant on appeal attempts to bootstrap other unobjected-to statements made by the forensic interviewers which he now asserts constituted improper vouching (see Brief of Appellant, p. 15-17; p. 19-21), the issue of whether or not these other statements were improper is likewise not preserved for appellate review. See e.g., State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct.App.1997) (“Failure to object when the evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the

right to object.”); cf. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981) (failure to contemporaneously object to a question advanced on appeal as prejudicial cannot be bootstrapped to a subsequent motion for a mistrial; any objection to the testimony was waived) (citations omitted). Accordingly, Appellant’s Issue I should be dismissed in its entirety on error preservation grounds.

The Testimony was not Improper

Further, even assuming the issue had been preserved, the testimony regarding the forensic interviewers’ recommendations was not improper and did not vouch for the credibility of the victims. Appellant points to State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011), State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 725 S.E.2d 139 (Ct. App. 2012), and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) in support of his argument that the forensic interviewers’ recommendations in this case impermissibly vouched for the credibility of the victims in this case. However, these cases are all distinguishable and do not prohibit the “recommendation” testimony at issue in Appellant’s case.

The Jennings case dealt with a “compelling finding for sexual abuse by [the defendant]” combined with statements indicating the victims’ provided details consistent with other information provided to the forensic interviewer. Jennings, 394 S.C. at 477, 716 S.E.2d at 93. In McKerley, this Court found that the forensic interviewer’s “compelling finding” of sexual abuse violated Jennings because it indicated the interviewer believed the victim was telling the truth. McKerley, 397 S.C. at 463-64, 725 S.E.2d at 141. In concluding the Jennings violation was not harmless error, the McKerley court pointed to several other statements which, in conjunction with the compelling finding of sexual abuse, indicated the forensic interviewer believed the victim

was being truthful. See id. at 465-66, 725 S.E.2d at 142. In Kromah, our Supreme Court again condemned a forensic interviewer’s “compelling finding” of child physical abuse. Kromah, 401 S.C. at 350-51; 737 S.E.2d at 495-96. However, the Kromah court went further and provided a list of the kind of statements a forensic interviewer should avoid at trial:⁵

- that the child was told to be truthful;
- a direct opinion as to a child's veracity or tendency to tell the truth;
- any statement that indirectly vouches for the child's believability, such as stating the interviewer has made a “compelling finding” of abuse;
- any statement to indicate to a jury that the interviewer believes the child's allegations in the current matter; or
- an opinion that the child's behavior indicated the child was telling the truth.

Kromah, at 360, 500.⁶

Significantly, Jennings, McKerley, and Kromah all have one feature in common – in each of these cases, the jury was given information that the forensic interviewers made “compelling findings” regarding the abuse alleged by the victims. See Jennings at 477, 716 S.E.2d at 93 (compelling disclosure of abuse by appellant); McKerley at 463, 725 S.E.2d at 141 (compelling for sexual abuse); Kromah at 351, 737 S.E.2d at 496 (compelling for child physical abuse). The interviewers’ “compelling findings of abuse” in those cases constituted indirect vouching for the credibility of the victim. See Kromah at 360, 737 S.E.2d at 500 (indicating that an interviewer’s “compelling finding” of abuse indirectly vouches for the child’s believability). Against the backdrop of a “compelling

⁵ The Supreme Court indicated it was providing this list “[b]ecause the admissibility of forensic interviews and the testimony based thereon at trial has been the subject of several recent appeals” and because “we believe it would be helpful” to provide such a list. Kromah at 360, 737 S.E.2d at 500.

⁶ Note that the Kromah opinion was issued in January 2013, while Appellant’s trial took place in September 2012.

finding of abuse,” other statements made by the forensic interviewers, such as statements about what factors the interviewer considered in forming an opinion regarding whether “something happened,” could be interpreted in no other way but that the interviewers believed the victims were telling the truth about their allegations. See McKerley, 397 S.C. at 465-67, 725 S.E.2d at 142.

Critically, in Appellant’s case, neither of the forensic interviewers testified that they made a compelling finding regarding any of the victims’ allegations of abuse. Furthermore, the forensic interviewers also never provided a direct opinion as to the victims’ veracity or tendency to tell the truth and never made any statement indicating to the jury that they in fact believed the victims’ allegations in the current case. The interviewers’ recommendations of therapy, and Weber’s additional recommendations that Victims 4, 5, and 6 have no contact with Appellant, did not directly or indirectly vouch for the credibility of the victims. Instead, as a rational jury would surely understand, therapy and no contact with the alleged perpetrator would be the logical course of action when a young child has reported sexual abuse to a licensed social worker. Regardless of the truth or falsity of the allegations, therapy and avoiding contact with the person the child is claiming abused him is an appropriate and even intuitive response to such reported allegations. The child could be telling the truth about the allegations; however, the child could also be - for reasons that need to be explored in therapy - making up stories about sexual abuse by that particular person, in which case it is obviously a prudent idea for the child to avoid contact with that person in the future. Therefore, since the forensic interviewers’ recommendations in this case did not impermissibly vouch for the credibility of the victims, the statements were not improper. See State v. Douglas,

380 S.C. 499, 503-504, 671 S.E.2d 606, 609 (2009); see also State v. Baker, 390 S.C. 56, 68, 700 S.E.2d 440, 446 (Ct. App. 2010) (suggesting that the *disclosure* of abuse is the event that triggers a follow-up recommendation after a forensic interview).

Harmless Error – Merely Cumulative

In any event, the testimony regarding the forensic interviewers' recommendations of therapy for each victim was entirely harmless where it was merely cumulative to other un-objected-to testimony in the record. The law is clear that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other un-objected-to evidence or other evidence properly in the record. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (finding any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other un-objected-to evidence is harmless); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196-97, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003) (recognizing admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) (instructing admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Broaddus, 361 S.C. 534, 542, 605 S.E.2d 579, 583-84 (Ct. App. 2004) (concluding error in admission of drug evidence was harmless where it was cumulative to other un-objected-to testimony at trial regarding drug use and drug dealing); State v. Richardson, 358 S.C. 586, 596-97, 595 S.E.2d 858, 863 (Ct. App. 2004) (observing even if the challenged testimony constituted improper “character evidence,” any error in its admission was harmless where the testimony was cumulative to other similar testimony

that was admitted without objection); see also State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 555 (Ct. App. 2001).

Here, at the time of the forensic interviewer's testimony regarding the recommendation of therapy specific to each victim, a parent of that victim had already testified *without objection* regarding that victim's referral to therapy as a result of the abuse by Appellant. (R. p. 171, lines 3-12 – Victim 1; p. 356, lines 9-15 & p. 380, lines 17-20 – Victim 2; p. 444, lines 2-7 – Victim 3; p. 634, lines 3-7 – Victim 4; p. 733, lines 4-12 – Victim 5; p. 804, lines 6-16 - Victim 6). In addition, Deputy Megan Burrell testified *without objection* that, following the forensic interviews, the Children's Advocacy Center ("CAC") referred all of the victims to a certified therapist in Greenville to pursue therapy. (R. p. 219, line 22 – p. 220, line 23). Furthermore, the therapist herself was called to the witness stand near the end of the State's case, and significantly, she testified *without objection* that all of the victims had been referred to her by the CAC, where the victims' forensic interviews had taken place, and testified as to the dates each victim began therapy sessions with her. (R. p. 860-75). Because the testimony from the forensic interviewers regarding their recommendations of therapy was merely cumulative to the un-objected-to testimony of the victims' parents, Deputy Burrell, and the therapist herself, any error in admitting the challenged testimony was harmless. See Schumpert, 312 S.C. at 507, 435 S.E.2d at 862 (admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); Douglas, 380 S.C. at 504, 671 S.E.2d at 609 (there was no prejudice stemming from the forensic interviewer's expert opinion that the victim needed a medical exam where a nurse practitioner subsequently testified about the victim's medical exam).

Harmless Error – Overwhelming Evidence of Guilt

Moreover, the admission of the challenged evidence is also harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. at 196, 577 S.E.2d at 448; see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) ("No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case."). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). Further, it is well-settled that error is harmless where there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. See, e.g., State v. Sims, 387 S.C. 557, 566-67, 694 S.E.2d 9, 14-15 (2010).

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